## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC00-579** 

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant/Cross-Petitioner,

VS.

JOHN A. BARLEY,

Respondent/Petitioner.

### RESPONDENT/PETITIONER'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

On Review of a Report of a Referee in a Florida Bar Disciplinary Proceeding

John A. Barley 4927 Heathe Drive Tallahassee, Florida 32309 (850) 893-4399 (home) (850) 922-0905 (work) Appearing Pro Se

## **

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to Warren A. Emo, ArC/Masterbuilders, Inc., The Florida Bar, Donald M. Spangler James F. Wells, Edward Iturralde, John A. Barley, Robert Augustus Harper, Columbia County Circuit Judge Paul S. Bryan, Columbia County Circuit Judge E. Vernon Douglas, Suwannee County Circuit Judge Thomas J. Kennon, Jr., Taylor County Court Judge Stephen Murphy, Taylor County Circuit Court Judge James Roy Bean, Leon County Circuit Court Judge Nikki Ann Clark, and Lafayette County Court Judge Harlow H. Land, Jr., are abbreviated as Mr. Emo, ArC, the Bar, Mr. Spangler, Mr. Wells, Mr. Iturralde, Mr. Barley, Mr. Harper, Judge Bryan, Judge Douglas, Judge Kennon, Judge Murphy, Judge Bean, Judge Clark and Judge Land, respectively. References to documents of record included in the Appendix are indicated by (App. Pg.\_\_).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

This disciplinary proceeding was initiated by ArC's Bar complaint against Mr. Barley. (App. 1-74). The complaint was signed by Mr. Emo on 10/26/98, under penalty of perjury, and was filed with the Bar on 10/30/98. The complaint alleged that ArC had delivered a check for \$76,760.68 payable to Mr. Barley's law firm's trust account to fund settlement of a dispute, that Mr. Barley used the funds for unauthorized purposes, and that Mr. Barley did not return the funds to ArC when Mr. Emo later asked him to do so.

On 1/13/99, Mr. Barley provided the Bar with trust accounting records maintained by his law firm for the 3-year period from 1/1/96 to 12/31/98. On 3/17/99 Mr. Wells prepared a report stating the findings, conclusions and opinions he had reached in auditing the trust accounting records he had received from Mr. Barley.

On 3/24/99, without prior warning or notice to Mr. Harper or to Mr. Barley, Mr. Spangler filed a Petition For Emergency Suspension seeking emergency suspension of Mr. Barley's license to practice law, attaching a 3/18/99 affidavit by Mr. Emo, a 3/19/99 affidavit by Mr. Wells, and a copy of Mr. Wells' 3/17/99 report. (App. 75-109). Upon the 3/24/99 Petition being filed, the Court designated the proceedings initiated thereby as Case No. 95168. Neither Mr. Wells' 3/17/99 report nor any other results of his audit were provided to Mr. Harper or to Mr. Barley until 3/25/99 when Mr. Barley received a copy of the 3/24/99 Petition.

On 3/26/99 Mr. Harper filed Mr. Barley's Response and Motion to Abate in response to the 3/24/99 Petition, controverting the material allegations of the Petition, showing that the controversy is between ArC and Mr. Barley's law firm, is civil in nature, and turns on disputed issues of fact, and that the Petition did not allege sufficient facts to show that Mr. Barley is causing great public harm. On 3/29/99, Mr. Spangler filed a Motion to Quash Mr. Barley's 3/26/99 Response and Motion.

On 3/30/99 Mr. Barley delivered his verified Response to ArC's Bar complaint to Mr. Spangler. (App. 111-184). The facts established by Mr. Barley's 3/30/99 Response and its

attachments rebutted many of the material facts alleged in the 3/24/99 Petition and its supporting affidavits, and showed that the supporting affidavits were incomplete, incorrect, and misleading in several important respects. (App. 1-74; 75-109; 111-184).

On 3/31/99 the Court entered an order directing the Bar to file a reply to the merits of the 3/26/99 Response to the 3/24/99 Petition. That same day Mr. Spangler filed the Bar's Reply, arguing that the Court should disregard the facts and reasoning advanced by Mr. Barley's 3/26/99 Response and Motion in favor of the contrary facts and reasoning advanced by the 3/24/99 Petition and its supporting affidavits. The Bar's 3/31/99 Reply did not acknowledge Mr. Barley's 3/30/99 Response in answer to ArC's Bar complaint, and did not address any of the facts established by the Response.

On 4/1/99 Mr. Harper filed an Addendum to Response and Motion to Abate, attaching Mr. Barley's 3/30/99 Response in answer to ArC's Bar complaint and excerpts from the record of the Leon County Circuit Court proceedings on ArC's civil complaint to show that Mr. Barley's pleadings in both cases were consistent and created genuine dispute over the ultimate facts that were material to determining whether Mr. Barley's law firm's use of the \$76,760.68 it received from ArC on 10/30/97 was authorized.

Without further notice or hearing, the Court proceeded to consider the merits of the 3/24/99 Petition and on 4/9/99 entered an order summarily denying Mr. Barley's 3/26/99 Response and Motion to Abate and the Bar's 3/29/99 Motion to Quash, and granting the

relief sought by the Petition, thereby temporarily suspending Mr. Barley's license to practice law.

On 4/19/99 Mr. Harper filed Mr. Barley's Motion for Dissolution or Amendment supported by Mr. Barley's affidavit of even date. (App. 185-305). Mr. Barley's 4/19/99 Motion and supporting affidavit expanded on the facts alleged in his 3/26/99 Response and Motion in answer to the 3/24/99 Petition and those established by his 3/30/99 Response in answer to ArC's Bar complaint, and showed that Mr. Barley reasonably understood his law firm was authorized to draw from the \$76,760.68 to meet its operating expenses and to credit those draws to ArC's account as advances toward payment of the legal services it rendered and the costs it incurred in continuing to represent the interests of ArC and Amwest until all matters in dispute were finally resolved. (App. 1-74; 75-109; 111-184; 185-305).

On 4/23/99 the Chief Justice entered an order referring the 4/19/99 Motion to Judge Bryan, directing him to appoint a referee pursuant to Rule 3-7.6 (a) to hear, conduct, try, and determine the matters presented in the disciplinary action initiated by the 3/24/99 Petition within 7 days from the date of the assignment and thereafter submit a report and recommendation to the Court within 7 days from the date of the assignment. On 4/29/99 Judge Douglas acted for Judge Bryan in appointing Judge Murphy to serve as the Referee. By dated 4/29/99, Judge Bryan asked the Court to extend the 7-day period of time provided for Judge Murphy to conduct a hearing on the 4/19/99 Motion to a time after May 14, 1999.

Without notice or hearing, on 4/30/99 the Court entered an order granting Judge Bryan's request, thereby indefinitely extending the time provided for the 4/19/99 Motion to be heard.

On 5/28/99 Mr. Harper filed an Emergency Motion for Stay of Suspension, or for Clarification to resolve the controversy between the Bar and Mr. Barley over the effect the 4/19/99 Motion had on the 4/9/99 order and the proceedings initiated by the 3/24/99 Petition.

On 6/4/99 Judge Murphy conducted a hearing on the 4/19/99 Motion. At the outset of the hearing, Mr. Harper questioned the procedure governing the hearing, noting that the Bar was obliged to demonstrate a likelihood of prevailing on the merits of the complaint underlying its 3/24/99 Petition, that no such complaint had yet been served, and that Mr. Barley did not yet have notice of the claims that may be asserted in any such complaint. Mr. Spangler then responded that he had already drafted the complaint that but had not filed it because of the pendency of the 4/19/99 Motion, that the complaint mirrored the allegations of the 3/24/99 Petition, and that he would file that complaint when the 4/19/99 Motion was finally disposed of by the Court. Judge Murphy then ruled that Mr. Barley had the initial burden of proof to support the 4/19/99 Motion. Mr. Harper then proceeded to present evidence through Mr. Barley, who then testified concerning every aspect of the claims asserted in ArC's Bar Complaint and in the 3/24/99 Petition. Mr. Barley then presented the files he had maintained in providing legal representation to ArC and Amwest from 7/30/97 to 9/11/98, the billings his law firm issued to ArC accounting for the legal services he rendered and the costs it incurred in providing such rewpresentation, the checks his law firm

received from ArC in payment of the amount billed for such representation it provided from 7/30/97 to 9/11/98, the amount his law firm applied from the draws it made from the \$76,760.68 in payment of the amount billed for such representation, the part of such funds his law firm returned to ArC upon such representation being concluded, and the communications and course of dealings he had with Mr. Emo concerning billing and payment for legal services rendered and costs incurred and concerning his law firm's receipt and use of the \$76,760.68 and the accounting it provided to confirm such use. (App. 397-533). Mr. Barley's testimony and the documents Mr. Harper introduced in evidence through Mr. Barley substantiated the facts alleged in his 3/26/99 Response, the facts established by his 3/30/99 Response, and his 4/19/99 affidavit testimony. (App. 397-533). In giving his testimony, Mr. Barley unhesitatingly accounted for his contacts, communications and course of dealing with Mr. Emo in clear and distinct terms. (App. 397-533). Mr. Barley's testimony was precise and explicit, and lacking in confusion. (App. 397-533). In defense against Mr. Barley's 4/19/99 Motion, Mr. Spangler offered only the 6/2/99 deposition testimony of Mr. Emo, the documents attached to ArC's Bar Complaint, the testimony of Mr. Wells authenticating his 3/17/99 report and explaining his opinions expressed therein, and Mr. Wells' 3/17/99 report. (App. 534-565).

On 6/15/99 Judge Murphy filed and served his Report of Referee, *finding and concluding that the Bar had failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Barley* 

is causing great public harm, and recommending that the 4/19/99 Motion be granted and the 4/9/99 order be dissolved. (App. 591-599).

On 6/17/99 Mr. Spangler filed and served his Response to the Report of Referee and his Response to the 5/28/99 Motion for Stay of Suspension or for Clarification,. On 6/21/99 Mr. Harper filed and served his Reply to Mr. Spangler's Response to the Report of Referee and his Reply to Mr. Spangler's Response to the 5/28/99 Motion.

On 7/1/99 Mr. Spangler filed and served a Petition for Order to Show Cause why Mr. Barley should not be held in contempt of Court for allegedly failing to abide by the terms of the 4/9/99 order and, in particular, allegedly failing to notify Miracle Hill Nursing & Convalescent Center, Inc. (Miracle Hill), that he was temporarily suspended from practicing law within 30 days after the 4/9/99 order was issued and continuing to act as counsel for Miracle Hill as late as 6/28/99. Without notice or hearing, on 7/8/99 the Court issued an order that acknowledged the 7/1/99 Petition, designated the proceedings initiated by the Petition as Case No. 95921, and directed Mr. Barley to show cause why he should not be held in contempt of the 4/9/99 order. On 7/9/99 Mr. Spangler filed and served an Amended Petition for Order to Show Cause, amending the 7/1/99 Petition to allege that Mr. Barley further violated the 4/9/99 order by continuing to act as counsel to Richard E. Corbin and Yellow Jacket Marina, Inc. (Yellow Jacket), as late as 7/30/99. Those allegations were based on a complaint Mr. Corbin filed with the Bar on 3/17/99. On 7/14/99 Mr. Spangler filed and served a Second Amended Petition for Order to Show Cause, further amending the 7/1/99

Petition to allege that Mr. Barley violated the 4/9/99 order by continuing to act as personal representative and attorney for an estate, failing to notify the heirs of the estate of his suspension, encumbering the estate's real property without authorization by the Probate Court and without consent or knowledge of the heirs, failing to account to the heirs for distribution of more than \$100,000.00 of the estate's assets, charging the estate excessive fees, and failing to timely conclude administration of the estate. Those allegations were based on a complaint Judith Parker filed with the Bar on 6/30/99. Without notice or hearing, on 7/16/99 the Court issued an order amending its 7/8/99 order and directing Mr. Barley to show cause by 8/5/99 why he should not be held in contempt of the 4/9/99 order and why he should not be further suspended from the practice of law until he could demonstrate that he had complied with the order, plus 15 days. On 8/5/99 Mr. Barley filed and served his Compliance with Order to Show Cause. On 8/13/99 Mr. Spangler filed his Response to Mr. Barley's Compliance with Order to Show Cause.

On 7/14/99 Mr. Spangler procured from the Chair of the Second Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee a Witness Subpoena Duces Tecum Instanter directing Mr. Barley by 9:00 A. M that day to produce a wide range of documents and records. That Subpoena was delivered to Mr. Barley at approximately 11:20 A. M. that day. Mr. Barley did not attempt to comply with the Subpoena because he believed it was legally deficient in several respects and sought to impose unreasonable burdens on him. On 7/15/99 Mr. Spangler filed a Petition for Order to Show Cause why Mr. Barley should not be held in contempt of Court

for failing to immediately comply with the Subpoena. Without notice or hearing, on 7/26/99 the Court issued an order that acknowledged the filing of the 7/15/99 Petition, designated the proceedings initiated by the Petition as Case No. 96029, and directed Mr. Barley to show cause by 8/16/99 why he should not be held in contempt for failure to comply with the Subpoena, why he should not be sanctioned, and why the costs of the proceeding should not be assessed against him. On 7/19/99 Mr. Barley filed and served a Motion to Quash Subpoena, For Protective Order, and For Sanctions, which the Court then designated as Case No. 96097. On 8/3/99 Mr. Spangler filed and served his Response to Mr. Barley's 7/19/99 Motion. On 8/13/99 Mr. Barley filed and served his Response To Order To Show Cause in Case No. 96029. On 8/20/99 Mr. Spangler filed and served a Reply To Respondent's Response To Order To Show Cause in Case No. 96029.

On 9/15/99 Mr. Spangler filed and served a Petition for Order to Show Cause why Mr. Barley should not be held in contempt of Court for failing to abide by the terms of the 4/9/99 order in failing to promptly notify his clients, Charles, Mary and Chekeesha Kidd (the Kidds) that he was temporarily suspended from practicing law and continuing to represent the Kidds after the effective date of the 4/9/99 order. Those allegations were based on a complaint the Kidds filed with the Bar on 8/29/99. On 10/5/99 Mr. Spangler filed and served an Amended Petition to Show Cause amending his 9/15/99 Petition to add a paragraph 7 alleging that Mr. Barley had repeatedly violated the terms of the 4/9/99 order. Without notice or hearing, on 10/13/99 the Court issued an order that acknowledged the 9/15/99 Petition and the 10/5/99

Amended Petition, designated the proceedings initiated by the 9/15/99 Petition as Case No. 96539, and directed Mr. Barley to by 11/2/99 show cause why he should not be held in contempt of the 4/9/99 order and why he should not be disbarred for his repeated acts of disobedience. On 11/2/99 Mr. Barley filed and served Respondent's Motion for Enlargement of Time requesting that the time provided for him to serve his response to the 10/13/99 order be extended to 11/9/99, on which date he filed and served his Response to Order to Show Cause.

On 10/7/99 Mr. Spangler filed and served a Motion To Consolidate Case Nos. 95921, 96029 and 96539 with Case No. 95168. On 10/15/99 the Court issued an order granting that Motion, thereby consolidating those cases for all further proceedings.

On 1/26/00, more than 7 months after Judge Murphy filed his Report of Referee, without notice or hearing, the Court entered an order summarily stating that the Referee's Report is disapproved, that Mr. Barley's temporary suspension is continued, and that Mr. Barley's 5/28/99 Emergency Motion for Stay of Suspension or for Clarification would be disposed of in the future by separate order. On 2/12/00 Mr. Spangler filed a Motion for Clarification of the 1/26/00 order. On 2/15/00 Mr. Barley filed a Response to that Motion. On 3/3/00 the Court entered an order stating that the Bar had 60 days from its 1/26/00 order to file a formal complaint on the claims asserted in the 3/24/99 Petition.

On 3/16/00 Mr. Spangler served a formal complaint and a request for admissions by mail to Mr. Barley. (App. 608-642). The 3/16/00 formal complaint stated the claims that

were asserted in the 3/24/99 Petition, and also asserted new claims; namely, that Mr. Barley had violated Rule 4-1.5 prohibiting illegal, prohibited, and clearly excessive fees, and that he had violated Rule 4-8.4 (c) prohibiting dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation. The Complaint did not, however, allege sufficient facts to support those new claims. Mr. Spangler's assertion of those new claims flatly contradicted the representations he made in the 6/4/99 hearing on the 4/19/99 Motion. (App. 395).

Instead of filing the 3/16/00 formal complaint with Judge Murphy, the complaint and the request for admissions were sent to the Clerk of the Court for filing under cover of a letter dated 3/16/00, citing Rule 3-3.2 as authority for filing the formal complaint and requesting that the Court appoint a referee to try the cause. (App. 608). The Court thereafter issued a document entitled ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NEW CASE dated 3/22/00 which changed the designation of the proceedings initiated by the 3/24/99 Petition from Case No. 95168 to Case No. SC00-579. (App. 643). Instead of then sending the formal complaint to Judge Murphy, the Court then issued an order pursuant to Rule 3-7.6 (a) directing Judge Kennon to within 14 days appoint a referee to hear, conduct, try, and determine the matters presented and to thereafter submit findings of fact and recommendations to the Court. (App. 644-645). On 3/29/00 Judge Douglas, acting for Judge Kennon, issued an order appointing Judge Bean to serve as Referee in the further proceedings necessary to dispose of the claims asserted in the 3/16/00 formal complaint.

On 4/13/00, without first making any attempt to communicate with Mr. Barley to determine whether he had yet responded to the 3/16/00 formal complaint or the request for admissions and, if not, whether he intended to do so, Mr. Spangler filed and served by mail a Motion for Default and a proposed order granting the Motion under cover of a letter of even date to Judge Bean. (App. 662-705). On 4/17/00, without notice or hearing, Judge Bean entered an order granting the Motion, thereby defaulting Mr. Barley for failing to timely serve a response to the 3/16/99 formal complaint. (App. 657-661). Without first making any attempt to communicate with Mr. Barley concerning his availability to attend a hearing, on 4/27/00 Mr. Spangler filed and served by mail a Notice scheduling a one-hour final hearing on the 3/16/00 formal complaint for 3:00 p. m. on 6/12/00 at the Taylor County Courthouse. (App. 662-705). On 5/8/00 Mr. Barley filed his Answer to the formal complaint, his Answer to Request for Admissions, a Motion to Set Aside Default, and a Motion to Abate. (App. 646-656). On 5/12/00 Mr. Spangler filed a Response in opposition to the Motion to Set Aside Default, a Response in opposition to the Motion to Abate, and a Motion to Strike the Answer to the formal complaint and the Answer to the Request for Admissions. (App. 662-705).

On 6/12/00 Judge Bean commenced the scheduled hearing, and first considered all pending motions. Judge Bean then ruled to deny Mr. Spangler's Motion to Strike, to grant Mr. Barley's Motion to Set Aside Default, to accept Mr. Barley's Answer to the formal complaint and Answer to the Request for Admissions, and to grant Mr. Barley's Motion to

Abate, thereby abating further proceedings on the 3/16/20 formal complaint and postponing a final hearing on that complaint until 30 days after conclusion of the jury trial that was scheduled to commence September 15, 2000, in Leon County Circuit Court on ArC's civil complaint. (App. 662-705). On 6/22/00 Judge Bean entered an order confirming his rulings in the foregoing respects and scheduled commencement of a final hearing for 10/20/00 on the 3/16/00 formal complaint.

By letter to the Clerk of the Court dated 6/8/00, again referencing Rule 3-3.2, Mr. Spangler submitted another formal complaint and another request for admissions for filing, and requested appointment of another referee. That same day, Mr. Spangler sent Mr. Barley a copy of the 6/8/99 formal complaint and request for admissions by mail. The 6/8/00 formal complaint perpetuated the claims Mr. Spangler had asserted in paragraphs 7, 8 and 9 of his 7/14/99 Second Amended Petition for Order to Show Cause filed in Case No. 95921, the claims he had asserted in paragraphs 7, 8 and 9 of his 8/13/99 Response to Respondent's Compliance with Order to Show Cause, the claims he had asserted in paragraphs 6 and 7 of his 10/5/99 Amended Petition for Order to Show Cause in Case No. 96539, and additional claims collateral to those claims. All such claims were based on the allegations made in the 3 separate complaints Mr. Corbin, Ms. Parker and the Kidds filed with the Bar after contacting Mr. Spangler concerning proceedings on ArC's Bar complaint. The Court thereafter issued a document entitled "ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NEW CASE" dated 6/21/00 that designated the proceedings initiated by filing the complaint as Case No. SC001243. On 6/22/00 the Court issued an order, again referencing Rule 3-7.6 (a), and again directing Judge Kennon to within 14 days appoint a referee to hear, conduct, try, and determine the matters presented in the formal complaint and to thereafter submit findings of fact and recommendations to the Court. On 6/30/00 Judge Kennon issued an order appointing Judge Land to serve as Referee in Case No. SC00-1243.

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