IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

VS.

Case No. SC00-579

TFB File No. 99-00,433 (02)

JOHN A. BARLEY,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

Edward Iturralde, Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5845 Florida Bar No. 886350

John Anthony Boggs, Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 253847

John F. Harkness, Jr., Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 123390

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should refuse to entertain Mr. Barley's arguments relating to his emergency suspension. Those issues are not properly before this Court, have already been addressed in a separate, but related case, are moot, and have been waived.

If those issues are addressed, his request for relief should be denied because Rule 3-5.2, both as written and as applied to Mr. Barley, clearly provided adequate due process. Mr. Barley was noticed and heard both before and after a temporary suspension order was issued. Mr. Barley was not discriminated against, instead he was treated like any other attorney who takes trust account funds without authorization.

The referee's factual findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence from the record. But the recommended discipline is not supported by case law. Rather, the case law supports disbarment as the appropriate discipline in cases of misappropriation of trust funds.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. <u>MR. BARLEY SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED TO RAISE ISSUES ARISING</u> <u>FROM ANOTHER, ALBEIT RELATED EMERGENCY SUSPENSION</u> <u>CASE, WHEN THAT OTHER CASE HAS ALREADY BEEN FINALLY</u> <u>ADJUDICATED AGAINST HIM BY ORDER OF THE SUPREME COURT</u> <u>OF FLORIDA, A REFEREE HAS FOUND HIM GUILTY BY CLEAR AND</u> <u>CONVINCING EVIDENCE OF VIOLATING NUMEROUS RULES, AND</u> <u>THE ISSUES WERE NOT RAISED IN HIS PETITION TO REVIEW.</u>

Mr. Barely devotes the majority of his brief to issues relating to his emergency suspension under Rule 3-5.2, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The emergency suspension has already been adjudicated by this Court's Opinion and Order dated August 24, 2000, and made final on February 20, 2001, when this Court denied Mr. Barley's Motion for Rehearing, Second Motion to Dissolve, and Motion to Correct Administrative Errors. <u>The Florida Bar v. Barley</u>, 777 So.2d 941 (Fla. 2000). Mr. Barley had the opportunity to argue against the emergency suspension and he lost. He is now impermissibly raising these continuing arguments. If Mr. Barley wishes to continue to argue the propriety of the Court's and the Bar's actions with respect to the emergency suspension, he should seek review by the Supreme Court of the United States.

Additionally, issues relating to the emergency suspension are now moot. As stated in <u>Godwin v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 211, 212 (Fla. 1992):

An issue is moot when the controversy has been so fully resolved that a judicial determination can have no actual effect. <u>Dehoff v. Imeson</u>, 153 Fla. 553, 15 So.2d 258 (1943). A case is "moot" when it presents no actual

controversy or when the issues have ceased to exist. Black's Law Dictionary 1008 (6th ed.1990). A moot case generally will be dismissed.

Florida courts recognize at least three instances in which an otherwise moot case will not be dismissed. The first two were stated in <u>Holly v. Auld</u>, 450 So.2d 217, 218 n. 1 (Fla.1984), where we said: "[i]t is well settled that mootness does not destroy an appellate court's jurisdiction ... when the questions raised are of great public importance or are likely to recur." Third, an otherwise moot case will not be dismissed if collateral legal consequences that affect the rights of a party flow from the issue to be determined. See <u>Keezel v. State</u>, 358 So.2d 247 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978).

In this case, Judge Bean, as referee, held a hearing, took testimony, and accepted evidence from the parties. After the hearing, he found by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Barley had violated rule 4-1.5(a) (Illegal, Prohibited, or Clearly excessive Fees), 4-1.15(a) (Clients and Third Party Funds to be Held in Trust), 4-1.15(b) (Notice of Receipt of Funds; Delivery; Accounting), 4-1.15(d) (Compliance with Trust Accounting Rules), 4-8.4(c) (Conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation), 5-1.1(a) (Nature of Money or Property Entrusted to an Attorney) and 5-1.2(b) Minimum Trust Accounting Records) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. RR 1/25/01, p. 10. The referee then recommended that Mr. Barley be suspended for three years, dating back to the date of his emergency suspension. Id. Mr. Barley, in accord with due process, had his day in Court and was unable to convince the referee that the Bar's allegations lacked merit or evidentiary support, while the Bar proved by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Barley had violated numerous rules. If the proper issue to be determined before ordering an emergency suspension is whether or not the Bar is likely to succeed on the merits, then the Bar has met that burden *by actually prevailing on the merits*.

Any possibility that attorneys in the future will be unsure of the meaning of Rule 3-5.2 was already alleviated by the reported opinion of this court rendered in <u>The Florida Bar v. Barley</u>, 777 So.2d 941 (Fla. 2000). There are no collateral legal consequences to be considered. The consequences to Mr. Barley are a direct result of his proven misconduct in taking trust funds without authorization. His requests for relief from the temporary suspension should be dismissed as moot.

Moreover, a review of Mr. Barley's Petition for Review reveals that he did not raise any issue relating to his emergency suspension or Rule 3-5.2 in that Petition. Therefore, he has waived any possible arguments that might have been made with regard to those issues.

IIRULE 3-5.2 PROVIDES A CLEAR, WELL DEFINED METHOD THAT
APPROPRIATELY BALANCES A RESPONDENT'S CONSTITUTIONAL
RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION AGAINST THE
IMPORTANT INTEREST IN PROTECTING THE PUBLIC FROM
UNTRUSTWORTHY ATTORNEYS

Assuming that Mr. Barley is entitled to raise issues relating his emergency suspension, his request for relief should still be denied because Rule 3-5.2 is not unconstitutionally vague, Mr. Barley was given his due process right to notice and an opportunity to be heard, and neither Rule 3-5.2, nor the application of the rule to Mr. Barley violated his equal protection rights as all attorneys are treated in the same manner under the rule and under Florida Bar policy.

Rule 3-5.2 provides the Bar with a mechanism for seeking emergency suspension or probation of an attorney. Before a petition seeking emergency suspension or probation may be filed with the Court, it must be approved by the president, president-elect, or executive director of the Bar. The petition must be supported by one or more affidavits demonstrating facts personally known to the affiants that, if unrebutted, would establish clearly and convincingly that an attorney appears to be causing great public harm. Upon receiving a proper petition, the Supreme Court *may* issue an order suspending the attorney or imposing conditions of probation on an emergency basis. Rule 3-5.2(a), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The Rule does not provide for *ex parte* petitions, therefore, the respondent is provided with a copy of the petition and given the opportunity to respond. Mr. Barley, through

counsel, responded within two days. The Court ordered the Bar to file a prompt reply to Mr. Barley's response. The Bar did so and Mr. Barley filed a supplemental answer which included a verified response to the allegations. The verified statement of Mr. Barley dated March 30, 1999, and attached to the April 1, 1999, Addendum to Response and Motion to Abate states in paragraph 3.2:

On October 30, 1997, my law firm received and deposited in its trust account a check for \$76,760.68 for payment to Slab if and when the settlement proposed in the 10/29/97 letter was closed. . . . I then telephoned Mr. Emo and related to him the information and advice I had received from Mr. Lamb [ie the settlement was unworkable]. I then told Mr. Emo it appeared any settlement would first have to be agreed to by CTV and ArC, and suggested that I continue the dialogue I had already initiated with Mr. Schmuck and Mr. Law toward achieving that end. Mr. Emo agreed and then asked whether it was necessary for the \$76,760.68 my law firm had received from [sic] on October 30, 1997, to remain in my firm. I then told him that it was not necessary for those funds to remain with my law firm, but that Mr. Schwartz, Mr. Sivvyer, Mr. Lamb, Mr. Schmuck and Mr. Law had been told that those funds had been deposited with my law firm as an expression of ArC's good faith to settle on the terms proposed in the 10/29/97 letter, that if those funds were then returned to ArC, CTV may construe that move as a sign that ArC was changing his position on the settlement, and that the interests of ArC and Amwest would be better served if those funds remained in my law firm unless and until it became clear that ArC could not reach a settlement with CTV which would dispose of the Florida Mining law suit. (APP pp 115 - 117)

Then in paragraph 3.4, Mr. Barley states:

Before concluding our telephone conversation on December 23, 1997, Mr. Emo asked me if it was any longer necessary for the Barley

firm to continue to hold the funds it had received from ArC on October 30, 1997. I then told Mr. Emo that my law firm had begun drawing against those funds to meet its operating expenses when it became apparent that such funds would not be used to pay Slab, that the draws my law firm had made were based on the amount payable for the legal services my firm was rendering and the costs it was incurring in representing the interests of ArC and Amwest, that I would ask my law firm's bookkeeper to determine the amount which had been drawn from those funds to pay for such legal services and costs, and that I would telephone him to let him know the unexpended balance of those funds. ... On December 24, I telephoned Mr. Emo and told him that the amount payable to my law firm for legal services rendered and costs incurred were miscalculated through miscommunications between me and my bookkeeper, that my law firm had drawn approximately \$23,000.00 more than what was payable for the legal services it had rendered and the costs it had incurred (APP pp 118-119)

Therefore, even under Mr. Barley's own version of the facts, he had not notified or sought Mr. Emo's permission to draw against the funds deposited in the trust account to fund the settlement until after he had taken the funds and had taken approximately \$23,000.00 more than Barley could claim as fees and costs. Mr. Barley's own verified statement, filed with the Court in defense against the issuance of a temporary suspension, supports the issuance of a suspension based on his admission of misappropriation of funds deposited for a specific purpose. Based on the affidavits provided by the Bar, and Mr. Barley's own admissions, the Court was authorized, perhaps even obligated, to temporarily suspend Mr. Barley's license to practice law. Rule 3-5.2, as written and as applied, provided Mr. Barley with notice and an opportunity to be heard *prior* to his temporary suspension. But the Rule goes one step further and allows an attorney to file a motion for dissolution or amendment of the emergency suspension order at any time. Rule 3-5.2(e), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Mr. Barley also availed himself of this opportunity to be heard and filed such a motion.

Constitutional Analysis - Due Process

The due process clause of the fourteenth amendment of the United States Constitution requires notice and an opportunity to be heard before a person's rights are taken. Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 313; 70 S.Ct. 652, 656-657; 70 L.Ed. 652, (1950). The suspension or revocation of a license requires constitutional due process. See Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535, 539, 91 S.Ct. 1586, 29 L.Ed.2d 90 (1971). In Bell, the Court held that a traveling minister's license to drive automobiles could not be suspended without procedural due process. The Court declared: "Once licenses are issued, as in petitioner's case, their continued possession may become essential in the pursuit of a livelihood." The requirement of procedural due process does not, however, require a predeprivation hearing. Barry v. Barchi, 443 U.S. 55, 63, 99 S.Ct. 2648, 61 L.Ed.2d 365 (1979). Arnett v. Kennedy, 416 U.S. 134, 94 S.Ct. 1633 (1974). See also Stock v. Department of Banking and Finance, 584 so2d 112 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (pre-hearing emergency suspension of securities broker license accused of misappropriating complies with due process). The nature of the notice and the quality of the hearing are determined by the competing interests involved. Goss v. Lopez, 419 U.S. 565, 579, 95 S.Ct. 729, 738, 42 L.Ed.2d 725 (1975). See also Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 334-35, 96 S.Ct. 893, 902-03, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976) (discussing factors to be considered when determining what process is due). A hearing need only be provided " 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner" in the context of all the circumstances. Mathews, 424 U.S. at 333, 96 S.Ct. at 902 (quoting Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552, 85 S.Ct. 1187, 1191, 14 L.Ed.2d 62 (1965)). The Mathews case explains that three factors should be considered in determining the nature and timing of a hearing. First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and finally, the Government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail. 424 U.S. at 335, 96 S.Ct. at 1903. The Mathews balancing test has been applied by courts to uphold informal, non-adversarial hearings where a doctor was suspended from the Medicare reimbursement program, Varandani v. Bowen, 824 F.2d 307, 310-11 (4th Cir.1987), cert. dismissed, 484 U.S. 1052, 108 S.Ct. 1000, 98 L.Ed.2d 968 (1988), and where a bus driver was fired for cause, Rodgers v. Norfolk School Bd., 755 F.2d 59, 62-64

(4th Cir.1985). There is no mechanical formula by which the adequacy of state procedures can be determined. To the contrary, "due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 481, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 2600, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972). For example, in Federal Deposit Ins. Corp. v. Mallen, 486 U.S. 230, 240, 108 S.Ct. 1780, 1788 to 486 U.S. 230, 241, 108 S.Ct. 1780, 1788, the postponement of the hearing until after suspension of a bank officer was supported by an important interest: prompt suspension of indicted bank officers may be necessary to protect the interests of depositors and to maintain public confidence in our banking institutions. Similarly, when there are valid reasons to believe that an attorney is misappropriating the trust funds of a client, there is a valid, important interest in protecting the interests of that client, other clients, and maintaining public confidence in our legal institutions. In the Matter of Kenney, 399 Mass. 431, 436; 504 N.E.2d 652 (Mass. 1987) (State has "significant interest in protecting the public from attorneys who engage in serious misconduct, particularly when the misconduct involves misuse of client funds or a compromising of the fiduciary relationship. There is also a strong interest in maintaining the integrity of the bar.).

Mr. Barley relies heavily on <u>Barry v. Barchi, supra</u>. Such reliance is misplaced. In <u>Barchi</u>, the U.S. Supreme Court held that a state racing agency can constitutionally summarily suspend a trainer's license based upon a a statutory

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